THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
WCC File No.: 1312352

Tyrone York, as personal representative
for Timothy York (Deceased), Shirley York,
and Yvonne Burns,

RECEIVED
OCT 21 2016
Plaintiffs, SC Court of Appeals

Of Whom Yvonne Burns is the Appellant,

And

Shirley York is a Respondent,

v.

Longlands Plantation a.k.a. Knollwood, Inc.,
and Companion Property and Casualty Group, Respondents.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000258

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

W. E. Jenkinson, III, Esquire
J. Thomas Thompson, Esquire
Jenkinson, Jarrett, & Kellahan, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 669
Kingstree, SC 29556
(843) 355-2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN BARRING YVONNE BURNS' CLAIM FOR BENEFITS AS A MATTER OF LAW, BY CONCLUDING THAT S.C. CODE ANN. §16-15-60 AND §16-15-80 APPLY (DEFINING AND PUNISHING FORNICATION) TO DECEDENT'S COHABITATION WITH YVONNE BURNS AT THE TIME OF DECEDENT'S DEATH?
- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING THAT *DAY V. DAY*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E.2D 83 (1950), CONTROLS AND IS DISPOSITIVE OF THIS CASE?
- III. DID THE COMMISSIONER AND THE COMMISSION ERR IN RELYING ON *FIELDS V. HOLLOWELL & HOLLOWELL, ET AL.*, 238 N.C. 614, 78 S.E.2D 740 (1953)?
- IV. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT YVONNE BURNS' BENEFICIARY CLAIM IS NOT WITHIN THE LEGISLATIVE SCHEME OF DEPENDENCY EVEN THOUGH SHE IS A NON-RELATIVE?
- V. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DENYING YVONNE BURNS' CLAIM TO COMPENSATION AS DECEDENT'S PRIMARY DEPENDENT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Decedent, Timothy "Blue" York ("**Decedent**" or "**Timothy**"), died in a work-related accident on August 26, 2013 when his boat capsized on a pond at Longlands Plantation while he and a co-worker were spraying algae within the course and scope of Decedent's employment with Knollwood, Inc. Yvonne Burns ("**Yvonne**" or "**Common Law Wife**"), who cohabited with Decedent for several years, but was not legally married to him, claimed Workers' Compensation death benefits for herself as his dependent, under S.C. Code § 42-9-120 or § 42-9-130.

Decedent's brother, Tyrone York ("**Tyrone**" or "**P.R.**"), the Personal Representative of Decedent's estate, sought Workers' Compensation benefits on behalf of Decedent's mother, Shirley York ("**Mother**"), under S.C. Code § 42-9-140(B).

Respondents, Tyrone (as P.R. on Mother's behalf); Longlands Plantation a.k.a. Knollwood, Inc. ("**Employer**"); and Companion Property and Casualty Group ("**Carrier**") admitted the work-related accident and subsequent death; and Carrier conducted a dependency investigation to determine the beneficiary.

After a hearing held on June 5, 18 and 19, 2014, Hearing Commissioner, Hon. Melody L. James ("**Commissioner**") entered an Amended Decision and Order dated June 5, 2015 concluding that Yvonne was a dependent pursuant to S. C. Code § 42-9-120; but that Decedent's Mother is entitled to the full sum of death benefits allowable under the Act. Yvonne appealed to the Full Commission ("**Commission**"), which adopted the Order in totality, by its Decision and Order ("**Order**"), entered January 20, 2016. This appeal followed.

FACTS

Decedent died in a work-related accident on August 26, 2013 when his boat capsized on a pond at Longlands Plantation while he and a co-worker were spraying algae within the course and scope of Decedent's employment with Employer. (R.p.77, lines 1-3). Respondents admitted the work-related accident and death and conducted a dependency investigation. (R.p.125, lines 1-3). All potential claimants other than Decedent's Mother and his Common Law Wife waived all claims to benefits. (R.pp.152-155). Yvonne claimed benefits as Decedent's Common Law Wife and/or dependent under S.C. Code § 42-9-120 or § 42-9-130. (R.p.157, lines 2-8; R.p.158, lines 12-18).

The Commissioner found and the Commission adopted the finding¹ (R.p.142, lines 9-15)

¹ The Full Commission having adopted the Commissioner's June 5, 2015 Amended Decision and

that Yvonne was partially dependent on Decedent who contributed to household expenses; and that her level of dependency was greater than that of his Mother (R.p.138, lines 4-5; R.p.142, lines 9-15). As to Yvonne's theories of dependency, it found (R.p.130, lines 1-26) that Decedent and Yvonne lived together off and on in a tumultuous relationship, representing themselves as a couple; and that they may have intended to get married; but that they were not married as of Decedent's death. (R.p.130, lines 7-17). It found that the couple was "at most, engaged" (R.p.141, lines 13-14); and that the couple was "engaging in fornication" (R.p.143, lines 12-13).

The Commission noted (R.p.137, lines 21-24 – p.138, lines 1-3) Yvonne's testimony that Decedent contributed to payment of her utility bills and that she used his debit card to pay various bills for her vehicle; its insurance and upkeep; groceries; and clothing. (R.p.229, line 1, - p. 233, line 16; R.p.137, line 21 – p.138, line 3). It found that the predominance of lay witness testimony did not support a common law marriage (R.p.130, lines 18-21), noting that Decedent's family did not know about the couple's engagement (Rp.130, lines 18-21) and that Yvonne testified that she did not get along with them (Rp.130, lines 16-17; Rp.225, lines 2-5).

But, the Estate's claimant, Decedent's Mother, testified that the couple lived together in the house on Broomstraw Road (R.p.206, lines 13-15); the couple's neighbor, Pamela Johnson testified that Decedent lived with Yvonne in the house on Broomstraw Road for at least seven years (R.p.207, lines 11-22); and, Decedent's friend of forty-three years, Frederick Childers, testified that Decedent lived with Yvonne for four years before his death. (R.p.190, lines 7-12; R.p.191, line 20 – p.192, line 8). Mother testified, both at deposition and at the hearing that she knew about the arrangement with Yvonne using Decedent's debit card funds, along with Yvonne's

own earnings, to pay the couple's bills over the whole course of their relationship, on a weekly basis; and that Yvonne was dependent on Decedent. (R.p.201, lines 10-18; R.p.205, lines 22 – p.206, line 7).

Further, while the P.R. testified that Decedent's mail went to his aunt's address on McMillan Road² (R.p.183, line 8 – p. 184, line 9), Decedent's auto insurance agent, Robert Mims, testified that Decedent changed his address with the insurance agency to the Broomstraw Road address on April 27, 2011 (more than two years before his August 26, 2013 death) (R.p.166, line 19 – p.167, line 4); furniture store employee, Gerald Wilder, testified that Decedent listed his address as the Broomstraw Road address on a purchase agreement on May 11, 2012 (more than one year prior to his death) (R.p.96, lines 23-24); and, documentary evidence showed that Decedent signed a home improvement contract for the Broomstraw Road home on May 17, 2013. (R.pp.266-273) Deceased's long-time friend and twenty-year co-worker, Althonia Rodgers, testified that he saw Decedent seven days per week and that Decedent lived in the Broomstraw Road house, continuously, for at least six or seven years, as if married to Yvonne. (Rp.170, lines 14-21; R.p.171, lines 1-12; R.p.172, line 1 – p.173, line 8). He testified that Deceased helped to fix up the Broomstraw Road house and Yvonne handled the couple's finances using Deceased's debit card. (r.p.174, line 10 – p.176, line 22).

The Commission noted that Gerald Wilder testified that the couple purchased furniture together and that one of the couple represented at the time of purchase, November 13, 2012, that they were getting married. (R.p.131, lines 14-17). (R.p.168, lines 20-23; R.p.169, lines 15-17) It

Commissioner's Amended Decision and Order and the Commissioner.

²The Order erroneously finds (Finding No. 16) that the mail went to Broomstraw Road; but all related testimony was to the effect that Decedent's bank statements and some other mail went to

noted further that (R.p.132, lines 1-4) convenience store owner, Chris Battle, testified that Decedent asked him for pricing for hosting their wedding reception (R.p.220, line 19 – p.221, line 19); and that (R.p.132, lines 5-8) Deceased's cousin, Towanda Williams testified that Deceased told her he was going to marry Yvonne, but, that she knew that the couple had not married. (R.p.132, lines 5-8).

The Commission found that it is undisputed that no civil ceremony took place (R.p.132, line 9) and that the documentary evidence does not support common law marriage (R.p.132, lines 10-11). It emphasized the couple's representations of themselves as single or head of household for income tax purposes (R.p.133, line 5 – p.134, line 9; R.p.137, lines 7-9). And it found "compelling" (R.p.142, line 18 – p.136, line 21) that Yvonne had not informed her son of the couple's engagement, though he could see the engagement ring on her finger (R.p.243, line 17 – p.244, line 12); and, that the couple had not set a date or formalized the plans for the wedding. (R.p.135, line 15 – p.136, line 19; R.p.245, line 10 – p.246, line 16).

At the hearing, Yvonne still possessed Decedent's debit card that she had used for years prior to and up to his death. (R.p.226, lines 10-25). Decedent kept about \$50 cash for weekly spending, of which his Mother claimed she received a small amount. (R.p.203, line 23 – p.204, line 7). The rest of the money from Decedent's paychecks was used to pay their joint living expenses; and, Decedent could have gotten his card back from Yvonne but he didn't. He let her keep it. (R.p.201, line 10 – p.202, line 18). Yvonne customarily took the combined cash from both their paychecks and paid their bills, including the Duke Energy electric bill (\$180-\$450/month); the gas and water bills for the Broomstraw house (about \$40/month); the payment

his aunt's address on McMillan Road.

for the furniture they purchased at Wilder Brothers (\$130/month); her SUV payment (\$350/month); house and vehicle insurance (\$158.14 to \$165.05/month); real estate taxes; groceries; clothes; her work uniforms; and gas, oil and maintenance for the vehicles she alone drove. (R.p.164, line 21 – p.165, line 6; R.p.165, lines 13-19; R.p.218, lines 5-22; R.p.226, line 6 – p.227, line 13; R.p.228, line 2 – p.233, line 16; R.p.247, line 15 – p.248, line 21; R.p.249, line 10 – p.250, line 9; R.p.265; R.p.275; R.p.276-277; R.p.283-285).

Mary McLaughlin testified that she is Yvonne's second or third cousin and had known Decedent for fourteen years; and that Decedent gave Yvonne the PIN code for his card and the witness and Yvonne were often together when Yvonne used it to get cash for bills and groceries; that Decedent would sometimes call Yvonne to remind her to get certain items for him on these occasions; and that the couple had lived together for five or six years this way. (R.p.208, line 16 – p.209, line 1; R.p.218, line 22; R.p.210, lines 2-4). Decedent's friend, Althonia Rodgers, testified that Decedent permitted Yvonne to use his debit card to withdraw his payroll money to use in paying bills that supported the couple's household. (r.p.178, line 15 – p.179, line 3).

Decedent also paid for improvements to the Broomstraw Road house. (R.p.177, lines 6-16; R.p.185, line 16 – p.187, line 20; R.p.211, line 19 – p.217, line 10; R.p.239, line 15 – p.241, line 13; R.pp.266-274). He bought furniture for the house (R.p.234, line 11 – p.239, line 14; R.pp.278-283); he transferred title to his 1999 Oldsmobile to her on October 29, 2011 when he could no longer drive, and the Oldsmobile was still at the Broomstraw Road house at the time of the hearing. (R.p.222, line 13 – p.224, line 20; R.pp.263-264). (This evidence contradicts the Order at Finding No. 19, which indicates that the Commission considered a certificate of title for a 1996 Lincoln Town Car titled solely in Decedent's name. (R.p.126, line 15-18). Finding No. 23

also makes reference to a car title, but does not describe or identify the vehicle. (R.p.133, line 1)

ARGUMENTS

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

“An appellate court can reverse or modify the Commission's decision if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record.” *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 689 S.E.2d 615 (2010). “Substantial evidence” is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981).

II. THE COMMISSION ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THAT DECEDENT AND YVONNE WERE ENGAGING IN FORNICATION.

The Commission found the fornication statutes to be applicable and to bar Yvonne's claim to benefits as a dependent. (R.p.143, lines 8-14).

Any man or woman who shall be guilty of the crime of adultery or fornication shall be liable to indictment and, on conviction, shall be severally punished by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than five hundred dollars or imprisonment for not less than six months nor more than one year or by both fine and imprisonment, at the discretion of the court.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-60.

“Fornication” is the living together and carnal intercourse with each other or habitual carnal intercourse with each other without living together of a man and woman, both being unmarried.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-80. It is undisputed that Decedent and Yvonne were not

legally married. Yvonne contends that the preponderance of evidence established that they lived together in the Broomstraw Road house for many years. (R.p.130, lines 3-8) However, no evidence was presented of *acts* of fornication (carnal intercourse), nor any evidence of a *conviction* for fornication, under S.C. Code §§ 16-15-60 and 15-16-80; and the Order makes no reference to any such act or conviction that could possibly support its findings. (R.p.141, line 12 – p.144, line 3) The three-volume Hearing Transcript is devoid of any such evidence, reference or argument. Thus, these findings are not supported by substantial evidence.

Additionally, statutes criminalizing private, consensual, sexual intercourse are irrelevant for the purposes of civil litigation. See *Thong v. Andre Chreky Salon*, 634 F. Supp. 2d 40, 47 (D.D.C. 2009). Although South Carolina case law has not explicitly held such statutes to be irrelevant for purposes of civil litigation, *Dye v. Gainey*, 320 S.C. 65, 463 S.E.2d 97 (Ct. App. 1995) effectively recognized the irrelevancy of S.C. Code § 16-15-60 for purposes of civil litigation.

For these reasons, the Commission erred, as a matter of law, in applying the fornication statutes and finding that the Decedent and Yvonne were engaging in fornication and in concluding that this "fornication" barred Yvonne's claim. (R.p.143, lines 8-14)

III. SOUTH CAROLINA'S FORNICATION STATUTES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

On the basis of its "fornication" finding, the Commission found the couple to have been engaged in an "illicit relationship" (R.p.142, line 16 – p.144, line 3). The Commission found that, even though Yvonne was Decedent's dependent (R.p.142, lines 9-15), the legal analysis of two bigamy decisions - a North Carolina Supreme Court decision (*Fields v. Hollowell & Hollowell, et al.*, 238 N.C. 614, 78 S.E.2d 740 (1953)) and a South Carolina Supreme Court decision (*Day v.*

Day, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E.2d 83 (1950)) - bar Yvonne's recovery. (R.p.142, line 16 – p.144, line 3). But, it is undisputed that there was no bigamy or other legal impediment to marriage between Yvonne and Decedent that could support the conclusion that their relationship was "illicit", because unrefuted evidence showed that Yvonne's two prior marriages legally ended through valid divorces in 1987 and 1993 - many years prior to Decedent's relationship with Yvonne. (R.pp.251-257).

Moreover, more than fifty years after the *Day* and *Fields* decisions, the United States Supreme Court held that state statutes prohibiting fornication and other consensual intimate acts and relationships are unconstitutional. *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558 (2003). See also, *Martin v. Zihlerl*, 269 Va. 35, 607 S.E.2d 367 (2005). The U.S. Constitution protects the liberty interests of persons to maintain a personal relationship "in the confines of their homes and their own private lives" including "overt expression in intimate conduct" as a part of such relationships. *Lawrence*, 539 U.S. at 567; *Martin*, 607 S.E.2d at 369. The fundamental right infringed by such statutes is the right to enter and maintain a personal relationship without governmental interference. *Id.* **This "protection extends to intimate choices by unmarried as well as married persons."** *Lawrence*, 539 U.S. at 577-578; *Martin*, 607 S.E.2d at 370 (emphasis added).

The State cannot demean their existence or control their destiny by making their private sexual conduct a crime. Their right to liberty under the Due Process Clause gives them the full right to engage in their conduct without intervention of the government. *Id.*

State interests in the protection of marriage and family are insufficient to warrant intrusion upon a person's liberty interest exercised in the form of private, consensual sexual

conduct between adults. *Id.* Thus, S.C. Code §§ 16-15-60 and 16-15-80, making "fornication" a punishable criminal act, are unconstitutional. See also *In re J.M.*, 276 Ga. 88, 575 S.E.2d 441 (2003) (Georgia fornication statute unconstitutional); *State v. Saunders*, 75 N.J. 200, 381 A.2d 333 (1977) (N.J. fornication statute unconstitutional); *State v. Pilcher*, 242 N.W. 2d 348 (Iowa 1976) (Constitution voids state statutes prohibiting consensual sexual acts between unmarried adults).

The (unproved) extent of Decedent's and Yvonne's private, intimate, adult relationship is protected by *Lawrence* and its progeny. It was not illegal or "illicit" because they had a fundamental right to enter and maintain a personal relationship without governmental interference and they had no legal marital obligation to anyone else. The Commission's conclusions to the contrary and resulting benefits denial are illegal government interference which must be reversed as errors of law. (R.p.142, line 16 – p.144, line 3)

IV. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT *DAY V. DAY*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E. 2D 83 (1950) BARS YVONNE'S CLAIM FOR BENEFITS.

There are only three decisions where South Carolina courts have denied workers compensation benefits to a woman living with and dependent upon a deceased worker at the time of death. They are: *Day v. Day*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E. 2d 83 (1950) (relied upon as dispositive by the Commission) (R.pp.142-143); *Byers v. Mt. Vernon Mills, Inc.*, 268 S.C. 68, 231 S.E.2d 699 (1977); and, *Palm v. General Painting Co.*, 296 S.C. 41, 370 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1988). All were decided at least 15 years before the U.S. Supreme Court decision in *Lawrence* recognized constitutional protection of private, intimate, adult relationships. In each case, the relationship was "illicit" or illegal, because one of the parties was still married to someone else when they

entered into the relationship on which the claim was based. Thus, there was a legal impediment to the relationship in each of the three cases - a crucial distinction absent in this case.

In *Day v. Day*, 216 S.C. 334, 58 S.E. 2d 83 (1950), Maggie Day claimed compensation as decedent's widow, or, alternatively, as his dependent. Maggie went through a marriage ceremony with the decedent while her first husband was still alive and living nearby, and without making any effort to obtain a divorce. Her alleged marriage to the decedent was void from its inception. The Commission awarded her benefits. The Circuit Court reversed, holding:

[T]he word 'dependent' as used in our Workmen's Compensation Law, refers to those lawfully dependent, and ... it is against the public policy of our State to make an award to one in a bigamous relationship with a deceased workman.

Id. Our Supreme Court affirmed explaining:

An examination of the record shows that for fourteen years she and the deceased lived together as husband and wife in the city of Greenwood, conscientiously and above reproach in accordance with the putative marital relationship. The fact remains, however, that it was an illicit relationship under the law.

Id.

The court went to great lengths in explaining the breadth and lack of limitation in the actual dependency provisions of our Act. *Id.* When deciding that Maggie was nevertheless not entitled to compensation, the court repeatedly emphasized the bigamous and **illegal** nature of her relationship with the Decedent. *Id.*

Byers v. Mt. Vernon Mills, Inc., 268 S.C. 68, 231 S.E.2d 699 (1977) also involved a bigamous relationship. There, decedent married his first wife, Helen, in 1945. Five years later, without obtaining a divorce and while his first wife was still alive, he married a second woman, Martha, with whom he lived, as man and wife until 1967. Six years after the second wedding, the

first wife, Helen, divorced decedent. In 1967, decedent left the second wife, Martha, and legally married the third wife, Dorothy, with whom he lived until his death in 1973. Dorothy and Martha claimed death benefits as the surviving spouse. Martha's argument was that when Helen divorced the decedent, it removed the impediment to her marriage and her marriage ripened into a legitimate common law marriage that did not dissolve when the decedent left her to marry Dorothy. The Supreme Court held Dorothy was the legal spouse and Martha was the alleged spouse in a bigamous relationship because there was no evidence that the decedent and Martha entered into a new agreement to a common law marriage after the decedent's first wife divorced him. Without such a new agreement, Martha's relationship with the decedent did not ripen into a legitimate marriage. Therefore, there was no impediment to the decedent's marriage to Dorothy in 1967.

In 1988, the Court of Appeals decided *Palm v. General Painting Co.*, 296 S.C. 41, 370 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1988). The facts in *Palm* are similar to those in *Day*. Julia, the mother of the decedent's illegitimate children was married to a man who was in prison. While still married to her incarcerated husband, Harvey, Julia lived with the decedent for two years and had two children with him. The Commission found that the evidence showed she was actually wholly dependent upon the decedent for her support at the time of the decedent's death even though she was still married to Harvey. Relying on *Day*, the Commissioner denied Julia's claim for benefits. The Court of Appeals upheld that ruling, relying on *Day*.

But, because there was no legal impediment to the relationship (common law marriage) of the couple, and because the Commission found that Yvonne was dependent upon Decedent (R.p.142, lines 9-15), these cases are inapposite to Yvonne's benefits claim as Decedent's

dependent. The Commission thus erred, as a matter of law, in concluding otherwise.

V. THE COMMISSIONER AND THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN RELYING ON *FIELDS V. HOLLOWELL & HOLLOWELL, ET AL.*, 238 N.C. 614, 78 S.E.2d 740 (1953).

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