THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

OCT 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

WCC File No. 1312352
Appellate Case No. 2016-000258

Tyrone York, as personal representative
for Timothy York (Deceased), Shirley York,
and Yvonne Burns, Plaintiffs,

Of whom Yvonne Burns is the Appellant,

And Shirley York is a Respondent,

v.

Longlands Plantation a.k.a. Knollwood,
Inc., and Companion Property
and Casualty Group Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SHIRLEY YORK

Ann McCrowey Mickle # 3522
MICKLE & BASS
1519 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 929-0029
(843) 839-2501 (facsimile)
amickle@mickleandbass.com

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

ARGUMENT

This case is not about statutes penalizing fornication or adultery. It is also not about North Carolina law or impairing anyone’s freedom to engage in intimate conduct. It is, however, about a ruling that is supported by the evidence and that follows settled law.

Two longstanding precedents hold that the legislature did not intend to include an unmarried cohabitant as a “dependent” under the Workers’ Compensation Act. These precedents control this case. They are not distinguishable in any way that matters.

The legislature’s prolonged silence suggests the Court should continue following these precedents. And even if the Court was writing on a blank slate, which it is not, there are significant risks to a contrary holding: Opening up the status of “dependent” to non-relatives creates an opportunity to dilute the meager benefits payable to loved ones by inviting dishonest claims from people the law regards as strangers. The better view is to follow precedent. This Court should affirm.

A. This case is controlled by *Day v. Day* and *Palm v. General Painting Co.* “Dependent” does not include an injured worker’s unmarried romantic cohabitant.

When someone dies as the result of an on-the-job injury, the death benefit must be divided among the injured worker’s dependents. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290 (2015). When there are no dependents, the benefit goes first to the decedent’s nondependent children, and if there are none, to the decedent’s mother and father. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-140 (2015).

The Code does not define “dependent.” One statute lists the persons who are conclusively presumed to be dependents: the decedent’s surviving spouse and “child.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-110 (2015). “Child” is separately defined. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-70 (2015). The final relevant statute is section 42-9-120 (2015), which explains “[i]n all other cases questions of dependency, in whole or in part, shall be determined in accordance with the facts as the facts may be found at the time of the accident[.]”

Yvonne’s dependency argument is the same argument the Supreme Court considered in *Day v. Day*. As Yvonne did here, the *Day* appellant claimed benefits first as the injured worker’s widow, and alternatively, as a non-spousal dependent. 216 S.C. 334, 336, 58 S.E.2d 83, 84 (1950). In support of her argument, the *Day* appellant pointed to the same statutory language; the language instructing that dependency should be determined “[i]n all other cases”—meaning, cases where the person claiming to be a dependent is not a surviving spouse or child—“based on the facts.” *Day*’s language recites this argument explicitly. *Id.* at 341, 58 S.E.2d at 86.

The Supreme Court rejected this argument, explaining “we cannot escape the conclusion that it was not the intention of the legislature to permit a woman to be classed and

considered as a dependent within the meaning of our Compensation Act who lives in illicit relationship with a man to whom she is not legally married.” *Id.* at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88. The Court finished by reciting its view that if the legislature had intended to include such a relationship as constituting a basis for dependency, the legislature would have made an express provision to that effect in the relevant statutes. *Id.* at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88.

Several things are noteworthy about *Day* beyond the case’s holding. First, the record showed “beyond question” that the appellant was dependent on the deceased worker. *Id.* at 341, 58 S.E.2d at 86. Second, the Court recited that the facts of the case appealed “strongly” to the Court’s sympathy on behalf of the appealing party, who genuinely believed she was married to the decedent. *Id.* at 344, 58 S.E.2d at 88. In spite of having these things in her favor, the appealing party nevertheless lost her claim to dependency. Unanimously.

The facts are not as favorable to Yvonne. Yvonne owns her own home, has a job, and appears to be able-bodied. (R.p.114). She also has no good faith claim to a marital relationship—the commission said that at best, Yvonne and Timothy *may* have planned to get married at some point in the future. (R.p.130, ¶11). The commission did not view as credible Yvonne’s contention that the wedding was set to occur the week after Timothy died; specifically noting Yvonne never told her son about any upcoming wedding, no invitations were sent, and there were no plans for any sort of celebration. (R.pp.134-136, ¶29). The commission recited that Timothy’s mother, brother, other family and friends were unaware of any wedding *or any engagement*. (R.p.130, ¶13). Yvonne’s story seemed dubious.

Yvonne’s argument is also the same argument this Court rejected in *Palm v. General Painting Co.* See 296 S.C. 41, 370 S.E.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1988). As in *Day*, the cohabitant

in *Palm* was found to be wholly dependent on the injured worker while at the same time, she was married to another person. *Id.* at 43, 370 S.E.2d at 464. There is at least one material difference between *Palm* and *Day* that has relevance here: The *Day* appellant believed herself married to the decedent, but the woman in *Palm* did not claim she was a spouse. *Id.* at 49, 370 S.E.2d at 468. *Palm* relies heavily on *Day*, and this Court explained if “dependent” does not include someone with a good faith but mistaken belief of marriage, it obviously does not include someone who knowingly cohabits while not married. *Id.* at 49-50, 370 S.E.2d at 468.

There are no material differences between these cases and the present case. There are factual differences of course: *Day* and *Palm* both involve marriages that would have been bigamous because one of the cohabitants was married to someone other than their roommate, but the controlling legal principle is not distinguishable. Unmarried cohabitants are not “dependents” under the Workers’ Compensation Act. There is no claim of bigamy here, but there is still an impediment to this marriage: The commission found Yvonne and Timothy were not married at common law, which means, as *Callen v. Callen* explains, Timothy and Yvonne did not intend to secure themselves in a “legally binding” relationship. 365 S.C. 618, 626, 620 S.E.2d 59, 63 (2005). As the Supreme Court explained in *Callen*, “South Carolina does not impose marriage upon a couple,” even if the couple intends to be together forever. *Id.* at 626, 620 S.E.2d at 63. *Day* and *Palm* follow this same principle and control.

B. The legislature’s prolonged silence suggests this Court should continue following these precedents.

The Supreme Court has explained that the doctrine of *stare decisis* is especially important to challenges concerning the judicial construction of statutes and determinations

about the legislature's intent. *Wehle v. South Carolina Retirement System*, 363 S.C. 394, 402, 611 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2005). A recent application of this principle to the Workers' Compensation Act occurred in *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities*; a challenge to an earlier Supreme Court decision about the different methods an injured worker may use to establish total disability.

In rejecting that challenge in *Wigfall*, the Supreme Court specifically noted the legislature's 40 years of inactivity since the court decided the precedent in question. The court explained "[t]he Legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court's interpretation of its statutes[,] and that "[w]hen the Legislature fails over a forty-year period to alter a statute, its inaction is evidence the Legislature agrees with this Court's interpretation." 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003).

The same principle applies to the present case. In the 66 years since the Supreme Court decided *Day*, there has been precisely one (1) amendment to the statutes discussing dependency. Act No. 92 of 1983 substituted "surviving spouse" in section 42-9-110 for "widow or widower." 1983 S.C. Acts 189, 190. There have been no amendments to the "in all other cases" statute; section 42-9-120. This silence is particularly noteworthy given that both *Day* and *Palm* looked to the legislature to tell the court if the court was reading the statute incorrectly. *Palm*, 296 S.C. at 50, 370 S.E.2d at 468; *Day*, 216 S.C. at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88. It is also noteworthy to consider *Palm's* rationale: *Palm* was not based on the idea that the romantic relationship was illegal. Instead it reasoned that if "dependent" did not cover someone who had a good faith belief of marriage, it surely did not cover someone who knowingly cohabits while not married. *Id.* at 50, 370 S.E.2d at 468.

C. Even if the Court was writing on a blank slate, and it is not, the better view is the one articulated by precedent.

California cases contain helpful articulations of the reason for holding as Yvonne would have this Court hold. There *was* a time when the law imposed criminal liability for adultery and other intimate conduct, and when California considered this dependency issue in 1979, it noted a previous decision observing “the prevalence of nonmarital relationships in modern society and the social acceptance of them.” *Dep’t of Indus. Relations v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.*, 156 Cal. Rptr. 183, 186 (Cal. Ct. App. 1979) (quoting *Marvin v. Marvin*, 557 P.2d 106, 122 (Cal. 1976)). The court believed this justified California abandoning a rule that—in the court’s view—improperly equated all nonmarital cohabitation with prostitution. The court said “[t]he mores of the society have indeed changed so radically in regard to cohabitation that we cannot impose a standard based on alleged moral considerations that have apparently been so widely abandoned by so many.” *Id.*

There are strong counter-arguments to this reasoning, moral judgments aside.

We might begin by noting the Workers’ Compensation Act’s goal of preventing “the injured employee and those *lawfully* dependent on them for support from becoming charges on society.” *Hines v. Hendricks Canning Co.*, 263 S.C. 399, 406, 211 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1975) (emphasis added). Yvonne could not have divorced Timothy or sued him for separate maintenance or support. In the eyes of the law, Yvonne and Timothy were strangers. Unwed cohabitants have been barred from benefits such as underinsured motorist coverage. *Bell v. Progressive*, 407 S.C. 565, 757 S.E.2d 399 (2014). It is not surprising that precedent involving other benefits like workers’ compensation benefits would follow a similar rule.

Timing also hurts this argument's persuasiveness. California announced its decision in 1979. This was after the South Carolina Supreme Court decided *Day* but before this Court decided *Palm*. It was also before the legislature amended the dependency statutes in 1983. *Palm* explained this Court was already "well aware of cases elsewhere" that supported someone like Yvonne's right to recover, yet this Court nevertheless held if "dependent" does not include someone with a good faith but mistaken belief of marriage, it obviously does not include someone who knowingly cohabits while not married. *Id.* at 49-50, 370 S.E.2d at 468. Yvonne's argument has already been litigated and rejected.

Then there is Indiana's experience, which provides useful insight. After the Indiana court followed the same approach as California, the Indiana legislature changed the law to explain that a common law wife would not qualify as a dependent unless the common law marriage had been open and notorious for at least 5 years. *Guevara v. Inland Steel Co.*, 88 N.E.2d 398, 401 (Ind. Ct. App. 1949). Indiana law now limits total or partial dependents to persons related to the decedent by blood or marriage. Ind. Code Ann. § 22-3-3-20.

Day articulates the reason the law views these relationships skeptically—people who are consciously living together in a nonmarital relationship may endeavor to take advantage of the situation for their own gain. 216 S.C. at 345, 58 S.E.2d at 88. People who cohabit and do not marry may have any number of reasons for doing so, but one of the foremost would seem to be an unwillingness to assume the obligations associated with marriage. If the parties wanted to assume those obligations, they would have gotten married.

Sure, there is broad language in *Day* defining dependency and it does not expressly limit dependency to relatives. *Id.* at 342, 58 S.E.2d at 87. Yet, in the six decades since *Day*,

there are no decisions recognizing dependency outside the relational context. The dependent in *Adams v. Texfli Industries* was a stepchild. 341 S.C. 401, 535 S.E.2d 124 (2000). The dependent in *Second Injury Fund v. Young* was an adult niece who was entirely dependent on the decedent; she quit work because of poor health, and the record reflects that her uncle told her he would take care of her. 301 S.C. 524, 528, 392 S.E.2d 807, 810 (Ct. App. 1990). If the legislature intended the sort of relationship at issue to come within the ambit of dependency, it would have broadened the statute's language after *Day* and *Palm*. It did not.

This is the correct result. Yvonne may have "depended" on Timothy in the technical sense of that term, but not as the term is used in the Worker's Compensation Act. Dependency means relying on someone for the basic necessities of life. *Day*, 216 S.C. at 342, 58 S.E.2d at 87. Yvonne has a job and owns her own home. (R.p.114). She said Timothy bought a television and the couple bought furniture together, but pooling resources for luxuries is not dependency. Timothy's mother had an insurance policy covering the funeral expenses. (R.pp.180-181). Yvonne did not. Timothy's brother, not Yvonne, applied to handle Timothy's estate; a significant point because Timothy had no assets but he *did* have debts. (R.p.182). Tax returns indicate Timothy had no dependents. (R.pp.259-262). Yvonne's 2012 return indicates no one could claim her as a dependent. (R.p.258).